FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
3/16/2023 10:11 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/16/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>10</u>1810-0 COA No. 55212-4-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DARRY DAQUAN SMALLEY,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

On Appeal From Pierce County Superior Court The Hon. Jerry Costello, Presiding

> NEIL M. FOX Attorney for Petitioner WSBA No. 15277 2125 Western Ave. Suite 330 Seattle WA 98121

Phone: (206) 728-5440 Email: nf@neilfoxlaw.com

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Darry Smalley, the appellant, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review set out in Section B, *infra*.

B. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

Mr. Smalley seeks review of the unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division Two, in *State of Washington v. Darry Daquan Smalley*, No. 55212-4-II, issued December 28, 2022 ("Slip Op."). Appendix A. Mr. Smalley filed a motion for reconsideration, denied on February 16, 2023. Appendix B.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. In a murder case, the trial court denied lesser-included instructions of manslaughter because of its conclusion that there was insufficient evidence that *only* manslaughter was committed. Was this test improper and should the murder count be reversed because the evidence supported the giving of manslaughter instructions?

- 2. Mr. Smalley was entitled to manslaughter instructions because the evidence supported the conclusion that he reasonably believed that he needed to act in self-defense but recklessly used more force than was warranted. Did the Court of Appeals erroneously decline to consider this argument, based on a procedural theory not raised by the State, without giving Mr. Smalley the opportunity to brief the issue?
- 3. Mr. Smalley aimed at three individuals and shot them. Is there sufficient evidence to sustain a conviction for murder by extreme indifference in Count I?
- 4. Mr. Smalley and co-defendant Dominique Avington were not the only people shooting in the incident. There was no evidence as to whose bullets struck Pearl Hendricks. Was there sufficient evidence to sustain the assault conviction in Count V?
- 5. The "act on appearances" instruction given in this case was appropriate for homicide, CP 302, but not for assault.

Was the failure to give a proper "act on appearances" for assault reversible error?

- 6. The State's used a peremptory challenge against Juror No. 32. The defense objected under GR 37. The trial court did not follow the rule's procedures and instead tried to guess Juror No. 32's racial or ethnic identity. Was this reversible error and what should the procedure be when there is an issue about how a juror identifies themselves?
- 7. Did the trial court err by precluding the defense from recalling a key witness to testify about the proffer she gave to federal authorities and to clarify that she did not believe Mr. Smalley was making threats against her?
- 8. Did pervasive prosecutorial misconduct deny Mr. Smalley due process and a fair jury trial?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In October 2018, Darry Smalley had just turned 23 years old. He lived in Portland and came to Washington with some friends. He went to a nightclub in Lakewood. A brawl broke out, Smalley suffered a broken tooth, and he went outside. One of the main instigators of the fight, Perry Walls, also came outside and continued his aggressive behavior, making threats to kill others. Two of Walls' friends/associates, Denzel McIntyre and Terrence King, were near-by. Slip Op. at 1-2; Opening Brief of Appellant ("OBA") at 5-7.

Smalley and his friend, Dominque Avington, were afraid of Walls, McIntyre and King. They thought Walls was armed, both testifying that Walls lifted up his shirt to expose a gun. OBA at 5-7; 15RP 2362-63, 2370-73; 16RP 2499; Slip Op. at 9-10.

Mr. Smalley testified that to protect Avington he shot at Walls, McIntyre and King. Avington testified he fired his gun to protect himself, but did not aim at anyone. Slip Op. at 9-10.

Multiple other people also fired guns during the incident as confirmed both by the security videos and by the discovery of various shell casings inside and outside of the club. OBA at 7-9.

Walls, King and McIntyre were all hit by gunshots, but King's wounds were fatal. Another person who was simply in the area, Pearl Hendricks, was also struck and severely injured. Slip Op. at 2.

By amended information filed in Pierce County Superior Court, the State charged Mr. Smalley with first degree murder of Mr. King based on RCW 9A.32.030(1)(b) – "under circumstances manifesting an extreme indifference to human life." CP 167. The State also charged Smalley with three counts of first degree assault related to Mr. Walls, Mr. McIntyre, and Ms. Hendricks. CP 168-69.

The State charged several other individuals in connection with the incident, but only Smalley, Dominque Avington and Kenneth Davis proceeded to trial. The defendants asserted that

they acted in self-defense or defense of another, and the jury was so instructed. CP 299, 301, 302, 303, 304, 327.

The jury convicted Mr. Smalley and Mr. Avington of all charges, but found Mr. Davis not guilty. Although Mr. Smalley was quite young at the time of the incident and had no criminal history, with firearm enhancements the trial court imposed standard range sentences totaling 929 months. CP 371.

Mr. Smalley and Mr. Avington appealed. In a partially published opinion, the Court of Appeals affirmed Avington's convictions, but this Court recently granted on the issue of lesser-included instructions. *State v. Avington*, 23 Wn. App. 2d 847, 517 P.3d 527 (2022), *rev. granted* 200 Wn.2d 1026 (2023).

In a later unpublished opinion issued on December 28, 2022, Division Two affirmed Mr. Smalley's convictions, denying reconsideration on February 16, 2023. Apps. A & B.

E. <u>ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE</u> GRANTED

1. As in <u>Avington</u>, this Court Should Accept Review of the Lesser-Included Offense Issue

a. Additional Facts

Mr. Smalley requested lesser-included offense instructions of manslaughter in the first and second degrees for the murder charge in Count I. CP 188-192. On October 19, 2020, there was an unreported conference in open court to discuss jury instructions. 17RP 2603-11. The next day the parties made formal exceptions. Over defense exception, the trial judge declined to give manslaughter instructions, ruling that the jury could not rationally find that *only* manslaughter in the first degree was committed. 17RP 2616-30.

On appeal, both Mr. Smalley (and Mr. Avington) challenged the failure to give manslaughter instructions based on this Court's recent decision in *State v. Coryell*, 197 Wn.2d 397, 483 P.3d 98 (2021). Smalley argued that trial judge in this case

explicitly used the wrong legal standard (that *only* the lesser was committed) and inappropriately relied on his own conclusions about the evidence rather than to look at the evidence in the light most favorable to the defendants. Relying on *State v. Schaffer*, 135 Wn.2d 355, 957 P.2d 214 (1998), Smalley (and Avington) argued that they were entitled to manslaughter instructions if they reasonably believed they were in imminent danger and needed to act in self-defense, but recklessly or negligently used more force than was necessary to repel the attack. OBA at 14-19.

The State never argued that Smalley or Avington did not preserve challenges to the failure to give lesser-included instructions. Instead, the State discussed *Schaffer* on its merits and attempted to limit the case, arguing it was a short opinion that the State (incorrectly) said was based on a State's concession, dealing with a case without video. *Brief of Respondent* at 20-27.

The Court of Appeals refused to consider Smalley's and Avington's arguments under *Schaffer*, concluding that the issue

was not preserved (citing RAP 2.5). Slip Op. at 19 n. 4; *Avington*, 23 Wn. App. 2d at 859 n.6. The court then held that the trial court properly denied manslaughter instructions because Smalley testified he "did not erratically fire toward an object, but rather specifically fired toward a crowd of people outside of the club. Because Smalley specifically fired toward a crowd, there was no evidence that would allow a reasonable jury to infer that Smalley only committed manslaughter." Slip Op. at 22.

Mr. Smalley's motion for reconsideration was based on the court's refusal to consider the *Schaffer* argument on its merits.

b. The Court of Appeals Erred When Not Considering All of Mr. Smalley's Arguments

RAP 12.1 prohibits an appellate court from deciding a case on issues not raised by the parties without ordering additional briefing. As Division Three recently held, the policy behind RAP 12.1 is to preserve the court's role as a neutral, rather than as advocates. *State v. Moose*, 24 Wn. App. 2d 456, 461, 522 P.3d

511 (2022). It also violates due process of law protected by the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 3, of the Washington Constitution to decide a criminal case on an alternative theory not raised by the parties without adequate briefing. *See State v. Carter*, 127 Wn.2d 836, 841, 904 P.2d 290 (1995); *State v. Adamski*, 111 Wn.2d 574, 580, 761 P.2d 621 (1988); *State v. Wisdom*, 187 Wn. App. 652, 664, 349 P.3d 953 (2015).

Here, the State did not object to consideration of the *Schaffer* issue on procedural grounds and never argued that the issue raised by Mr. Smalley was not preserved. Had the State claimed the instructional issue was waived, Mr. Smalley could have addressed waiver on its merits, could have sought a remand to complete the record of the unreported instructions' conference,¹

¹ See State v. Waits, 200 Wn.2d 507, 517-24, 520 P.3d 49 (2022).

or could have raised ineffective assistance of counsel in a supplemental brief.

The Court of Appeals' *sua sponte* refusal to consider a meritorious issue in this case violates RAP 12.1 and due process of law and calls out for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(3).

c. Mr. Smalley Was Entitled to Manslaughter Instructions

A person charged with a crime has a constitutional right under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and article I, sections 3 and 22 to present a defense.² "If the evidence permits a jury to rationally find a defendant guilty of the lesser offense, a lesser included offense instruction should be given." *Coryell*, 197 Wn.2d at 415 (citing *Beck v. Alabama*, 447 U.S. 625, 635, 100 S.Ct. 2382, 65 L.Ed.2d 392 (1980)).

² See State v. Lynch, 178 Wn.2d 487, 491-92, 309 P.3d 482 (2013); State v. Corstine, 177 Wn.2d 370, 376, 300 P.3d 400 (2013).

When determining whether a lesser-included offense instruction is appropriate, a court must determine if (1) each of the elements of the lesser offense is a necessary element of the charged offense ("legal prong"), and (2) the evidence in the case supports an inference that the lesser crime was committed ("factual prong"). *State v. Workman*, 90 Wn.2d 443, 447-48, 584 P.2d 382 (1978).

In past decisions, regarding extreme indifference murder (RCW 9A.32.030(b)), this Court has held that manslaughter meets the "legal prong" of the *Workman* test. *In re Pers. Restraint of Sandoval*, 189 Wn.2d 811, 821, 408 P.3d 675 (2018); *State v. Henderson*, 182 Wn.2d 734, 742. 344 P.3d 1207 (2015).

In this case, the trial court declined to give manslaughter instructions because it concluded the "factual prong" was not met.

Based on its own review of the evidence and its own credibility determinations about the differences between the testimony and the video, the trial court ruled that a jury could not "rationally

conclude that any of these defendants committed Manslaughter in the First Degree *to the exclusion of extreme indifference murder*." 17RP 2629 (emphasis added).

In *Coryell*, this Court held the test applied by the trial court -- "to the exclusion" – was erroneous. *Coryell*, 197 Wn.2d at 414-15. Rather, the test is whether there is some evidence, from whatever source, to support the defendant's theory that the lesser was committed. *Id*. Mr. Smalley satisfied this test. The evidence showed that if the shooting was not justified, Smalley's conduct met the recklessness or negligence required for manslaughter.

When ruling against Mr. Smalley, Division Two stressed that because Smalley aimed at the people he shot he was not erratic in his use of force, and that therefore he could not have committed manslaughter. Slip Op. at 22. However, just a few pages later, in the context of the sufficiency analysis, Division Two concluded, "While Smalley shot at Walls, McIntyre, and

King, he did not simply endanger only them; Smalley's shots endangered all of the people in the crowd around the entrance to the club." Slip Op. at 23.

If Smalley's use of force was not justified, or if he used excessive force under the circumstances as under *Schaffer*, this would meet the definition of manslaughter. Given how close the recklessness of extreme indifference murder is to that required for manslaughter, *Henderson*, 182 Wn.2d at 745, the jury would have been entitled to find that Smalley committed manslaughter, not murder, when he shot at Walls, McIntyre and King.

The Court of Appeals recognized past cases involving manslaughter and extreme indifference murder, but concluded that to get a manslaughter instructions in an extreme indifference case the defendant must shoot at "an object rather than at a group of people." Slip Op. at 21 (citing *Henderson* and *Sandoval*).

The "object-person" distinction is not supported by this Court's jurisprudence. In *Sandoval*, the assailants intentionally

shot at a vehicle, not just to shoot at an object, but to effectuate revenge *on the occupants. Sandoval*, 189 Wn.2d at 816. In *Henderson*, although the defendant shot at a house for revenge, it was an *occupied* house with people milling around outside of it. *Henderson*, 182 Wn.2d at 738-39, 745-46. Neither *Sandoval* nor *Henderson* stand for the proposition that a lesser of manslaughter is only appropriate if the shooting was solely aimed at an inanimate object with no people present.

The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with past cases and Mr. Smalley's constitutional rights were violated. As with Mr. Avington's case, this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (3).

2. There Was Insufficient Evidence of Extreme Indifference Murder

Mr. Smalley fired at Mr. Walls and the two people right behind him, Mr. King and Mr. McIntyre. All three intended targets were shot. 16RP 2431-32. Under these circumstances,

there was insufficient evidence under the Due Process Clauses (U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 3) and *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979), to support conviction for Count I.

First degree murder by extreme indifference requires proof that the defendant "(1) acted with extreme indifference, an aggravated form of recklessness, which (2) created a grave risk of death to others, and (3) caused the death of a person." *State v. Yarbrough*, 151 Wn. App. 66, 82, 210 P. 3d 1029 (2009). First degree murder requires a very high degree of risk, which "elevates the level of recklessness to an extreme level, thus 'manifesting an extreme indifference to human life." *State v. Dunbar*, 117 Wn.2d 587, 594, 817 P.2d 1360 (1991) (quoting RCW 9A.32.030(1)(b)).

"Under this alternative, the State must show that the defendant acted recklessly and with extreme indifference to human life in 'general[],'as opposed to simply endangering the

life of a 'particular' victim or victims." *State v. Pettus*, 89 Wn. App. 688, 694, 951 P. 2d 284 (1998) (quoting *State v. Berge*, 25 Wn. App. 433, 437, 607 P. 2d 1247 (1980)). *See also State v. Anderson*, 94 Wn.2d 176, 616 P.2d 612 (1980).

Division Two rejected the sufficiency argument because "Smalley's actions endangered an entire crowd of people, not simply the three people that Smalley intended to shoot." Slip Op. at 24. This conclusion improperly focuses on the result of someone's actions rather than the defendant's mental state. Mr. Smalley testified that he responded to someone else's aggression and fired his gun directly at those who he believed were threatening his friends and himself, and in fact his shots were tragically on target.

The fact that Mr. Smalley shot people in a crowded area is not dispositive since, as Division Two held in another case, people in urban areas who use force to defend themselves may have to fire guns in areas where bystanders may be endangered.

State v. O'Neal, 19 Wn. App. 2d 1047 (2021) (unpub.), Slip Op. at 13.

Mr. Smalley's mental state was not one of extreme indifference, but either intentional or not, depending on whether the State could disprove self-defense. In closing, the State agreed with this conclusion, arguing that "each and every time" the defendants pulled the trigger it was a "deliberate act" and "everywhere they pointed was where they meant to shoot." 18RP 2658-59. To be sure, Mr. Smalley fired off more rounds than just those that struck Mr. Walls, Mr. King and Mr. McIntyre, but he was not charged with murder based on those shots. The murder charge involved Mr. King, who was not an unintended victim and who Mr. Smalley candidly admitted shooting at to protect himself and Avington. 16RP 2401-04.

Mr. Smalley's constitutional rights were violated and review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(3).

3. There Was Insufficient Evidence that Mr. Smalley or an Accomplice Shot Pearl Hendricks

Count V involved the assault of Pearl Hendricks, a bystander who was shot four times as she re-entered the club. 13RP 1984-87. It is unknown whose bullets hit Ms. Hendricks. Mr. Smalley did not aim at her and there were multiple other people firing guns during the melee, including club employees and an unknown person in the parking lot ("unknown" since Mr. Davis was acquitted). *See* OBA at 8-9.

It is possible that the person responsible for firing the rounds that hit Ms. Hendricks was actually firing at Mr. Avington and Mr. Smalley and was not "aligned" with them. Smalley could not be an accomplice to such a person. *See State v. Jameison*, 4 Wn. App. 2d 184, 205, 207, 421 P.3d 463 (2018) (affirming dismissal of a murder by extreme indifference prosecution where someone shooting at the defendant's friend killed a bystander:

"They entered any fight from opposite poles" and did not share a "common purpose.").

Because it was unknown who shot Ms. Hendricks, there is insufficient evidence to sustain a conviction for Count V under *Jackson v. Virginia*, *supra*, and the Due Process Clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment and article I, section 3. Division Two rejected this argument, but failed to mention *Jameison*, Davis' acquittal, or the multiple other shooters involved. Slip Op. at 24-25.

This Court should accept review and reverse under RAP 13.4(b)(2) (because of the conflict with *Jameison*) and RAP 13.4(b)(3) (because of the constitutional violation).

4. The Trial Court Gave the Wrong "Act on Appearances" Instruction for the Assault Charges

People threatened with force in Washington can "act on appearances" even if they are wrong about the degree of danger they actually face. *See State v. Miller*, 141 Wash. 104, 105-06,

250 P. 645 (1926). The proper "act on appearances" instruction for non-homicide cases is WPIC 17.04, proposed by the defense below. CP 182.³ This instruction tracks the legislative authorization for self-defense in non-homicide cases. RCW 9A.16.020(3), allowing for the use of force "[w]henever used by a party about to be injured."

The trial court did not give WPIC 17.04, but instead only gave WPIC 16.07 (CP 302), the "act on appearances" instruction used in homicide cases. Under this instruction, someone can only "act on appearances" if that person believes in good faith and on reasonable grounds that they and/or another is in actual danger of "great personal injury."

Although the defense proposed this instruction, counsel did not except to the failure to give it. Counsel was ineffective assistance under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments for the failure to except, although the Court of Appeals addressed the issue on its merits. Slip Op. at 25-26.

The use of the homicide standard of fear in a non-homicide case in this case conflicts with RCW 9A.16.020(3) and diminished the State's burden of disproving self-defense, thereby denying Mr. Smalley due process of law and the right to bear arms. U.S. Const. amends. II & XIV; Const. art. I, §§ 3 & 24; *State v. Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d 856, 862-63, 215 P.3d 177 (2009).

Division Two rejected this argument, noting only that if deadly force is used, WPIC 16.07 is appropriate, not WPIC 17.04. Slip Op. at 25-26. The court did not cite to any cases, and its decision conflicts with legislative intent under RCW 9A.16.020(3) which applies to non-homicide cases.

This issue comes up regularly in different contexts with differing results. *See State v. Brown*, 21 Wn. App. 2d 541, 560-64, 506 P.3d 1258 (2022) (counsel not ineffective for proposing wrong "act on appearances" instruction in case involving defense against felony); *State v. Ackerman*, 11 Wn. App. 2d 304, 314-15, 453 P.3d 749 (2019) (error to require fear of "great personal"

injury" in defense against felony); *State v. Woods*, 138 Wn. App. 191, 201, 156 P.3d 309 (2007) ("In cases not involving death, the use of force is justified if the defendant reasonably believed he was about to be injured."). Because Mr. Smalley's constitutional rights regarding the assault counts were violated by the wrong "act on appearances" instruction, review should be accepted under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4).

5. The Trial Court Violated GR 37

The State used a peremptory challenge against Juror 32. When the defense objected under GR 37, there was an extended discussion about Juror 32's skin tone and ethnicity. The State used metaphors to describe her: "I guess I'd be curious to know if anyone else in this courtroom thought she was anything other than white as snow. I remember this juror and she was just white as the day is long." 6RP 933 (emphasis added). The trial judge complained about GR 37, wondered if he needed a "genealogy report on jurors," and ruled that an objective observer would not

see "race or ethnicity as a factor" because Juror No. 32 "did not appear in any respect to be a racial or ethnic minority." 6RP 933-943.

On appeal, Mr. Smalley argued that the trial court erred by not following the procedural steps of GR 37(d) & (e) – requiring the State to provide an explanation for its challenge and only then evaluating the justification. The Court of Appeals rejected this argument, holding that GR 37 does not apply unless the challenged juror was "a member of a cognizable racial or ethnic group." Slip Op. at 28.

However, GR 37 is written neutrally and does not just apply to challenges of members of cognizable racial or ethnic groups which have been the historic victims of discrimination. More importantly, the Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) to explain the procedure that should be followed when there is a dispute about a juror's ethnicity.

Here, the State's use of metaphors about skin tone when describing the juror illustrates the need for the Court to provide guidance. Classifications based on phenotype and shaped by observer characteristics do not always match how individuals self-identify. *See* N. Vargas, K. Stainback, "Documenting Contested Racial Identities Among Self-Identified Latina/os, Asians, Blacks, and Whites," 60 *Am. Behav. Scientist* 442, 443 (2016). *See also State v. Listoe*, 15 Wn. App. 2d 308, 332, 475 P.3d 534 (2020) (Melnick, J, concurring) ("I find it hard to imagine that any judge or lawyer would be able to determine every potential juror's race solely through visual observation.").

In this case, in the absence of juror self-identification, the court and parties below were left to speculate about the prospective juror's group membership based on her physical characteristics, a process necessarily tied to stereotypes. Such categorization of people by how they "look" – as occurred here – recalls the very racism that GR 37 was meant to combat. *See*,

e.g., United States v Thind, 261 U.S. 204, 215, 43 S.Ct. 338, 67 L.Ed. 616 (1923) (racist opinion rejecting claim in naturalization case that someone from India was a "white person" based upon "familiar observation and knowledge" about "physical group characteristics").

In other contexts, this Court has required trial courts to step in and take control of issues related to jurors and race. *See State v. Berhe*, 193 Wn.2d 647, 444 P.3d 1172 (2019). Here, if th jurors were never asked at the outset to self-report demographic information, the trial court should have made sensitive inquiry to find out how they self-identified. This would have been more in keeping with the policies of GR 37 than the type of crude conclusions that occurred in this case. The Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4), and under RAP 13.4(b)(3) because of the Fourteenth Amendment underpinnings of GR 37. *State v. Jefferson*, 192 Wn.2d 225, 242, 429 P.3d 467 (2018).

6. Mr. Smalley Was Denied the Ability to Call Witnesses

Erica Johnson was Mr. Smalley's friend. She testified about purchasing guns for Smalley and that she overheard Smalley "bragging" about the shooting. She also said someone threatened to kill her boyfriend if she testified. Mr. Smalley wanted to recall her to testify in his case to clarify that she did not think that Mr. Smalley was responsible for the threats. He also wanted to question her about telling federal authorities that Smalley "seemed like he was kind of bragging" and may not have known he actually shot anyone – statements not disclosed until after she testified pursuant to the Jencks Act, 18 U.S.C. § 3500. Slip Op. at 7-8.

The trial court excluded the evidence and the Court of Appeals affirmed, holding that the evidence was "collateral" and "cumulative" and risked introducing prejudicial gang evidence. Slip Op. at 28-30. This is incorrect. Asking Johnson about the

fact that she did not think Mr. Smalley was behind the threats would not introduce gang evidence that would prejudice Smalley. The proposed testimony was not cumulative since it was based on newly disclosed material showing that Johnson never told federal authorities that Smalley actually "bragged."

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