FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/17/2023 1:12 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 101810-0

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DARRY DAQUAN SMALLEY,

Petitioner.

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Jerry Costello

No. 18-1-04289-7

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

Teresa Chen
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 31762 / OID #91121
930 Tacoma Ave. S, Rm 946
Tacoma, WA 98402
(253) 798-6517

# **

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

### IV. ARGUMENT

A. It is appropriate to stay review of the petition where this Court is currently reviewing a shared issue in the co-defendant's case.

Smalley challenges the trial court's refusal to instruct the jury on manslaughter. This Court has accepted review of this issue in the co-defendant's case (*State v. Avington*, No. 101398-1). Oral argument is scheduled for May 25, 2023. The decision in that case should inform Smalley's claim. Smalley and

Avington were tried together. Their defenses were similar but not identical. Avington claimed he shot wide six times to scare Walls and in defense of self. Smalley claimed he shot directly at the victims 16-17 times in defense of Avington. It is appropriate to stay review of Smalley's petition until the co-defendant's case is resolved.

B. Smalley's challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence do not demonstrate a conflict with any Washington case or a significant constitutional question.

Smalley seeks review of the court of appeals' decision holding there was sufficient evidence for the jury's verdict on extreme indifference murder and assault. Pet. at 17, 19. As to the murder, Smalley contends that his testimony that he intended to shoot three specific people precludes a jury finding that he acted with extreme indifference to the lives of more than 20 people. *Id.* It does not. The standard of review does not require the jury to believe the Defendant. *See State v. Homan*, 181 Wn.2d 102, 106, 330 P.3d 182 (2014) (admits the truth of the *state's* evidence drawing inferences most strongly for the state

and against the defendant). He was charged with extreme indifference murder. And on the evidence, a rational jury could find beyond a reasonable doubt that Smalley manifested extreme indifference to the human lives that were put at grave risk by his actions. RCW 9A.32.030(1)(b).

As to the assault, he claims that it is possible that all of the four bullets which struck Ms. Hendricks came from two men who were inside the bar and not aligned with Smalley. Pet. at 19 (citing *State v. Jameison*, 4 Wn. App. 2d 184, 421 P.3d 463 (2018)). Again, that is not the standard. Also, the video evidence makes clear than neither of these two men could have injured Hendricks. *See* Ex. 280, ch. 11 at 1:24:10 (Hendricks is shot); Ex. 280, ch. 11 at 1:24:29 (first man stands in foyer with the fallen Hendricks and shoots out the door away from her); Ex. 280, ch. 9 at 1:24:40-42 (second man crosses barroom toward entrance 20 seconds after Hendricks is shot).

Smalley does not demonstrate a conflict with any case or raise a constitutional question. This issue does not present a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b).

# C. The court of appeals' compliance with this Court's precedent in *Walden* and *Kyllo* does not present a RAP 13.4(b) consideration.

Smalley claims that a person may use disproportionate force in defense. Pet. at 21. This is not the law. "Deadly force may only be used in self-defense if the defendant reasonably believes he or she is threatened with death or 'great personal injury." *State v. Walden*, 131 Wn.2d 469, 474, 932 P.2d 1237 (1997) (quoting RCW 9A.16.050(1)); *accord State v. Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d 856, 866-67, 215 P.3d 177 (2009). Defensive force cannot be greater than necessary.

The court of appeals' unpublished opinion in this regard does not conflict with any other Washington case or present a significant constitutional question.

///

///

# D. Smalley's demand that jurors be required to identify their race and ethnicity is not a matter of substantial public interest.

Smalley argues that GR 37 "does not just apply to challenges of members of cognizable racial or ethnic groups which have been the historic victims of discrimination." Pet. at 24. This ignores the challenger's complaint. Avington complained the prosecutor was excluding Juror 32, because she was not white but "mixed with something." 6RP 932. The judge, who is the finder of fact and whose factfinding has not been challenged, found that the juror was white. She was not of a minority race or ethnicity. Therefore, Avington's claim failed in its factual premise, and there was no prima facie claim of unfair exclusion based on race or ethnicity. The court did not proceed to GR 37(d) or (e), because GR 37(a) and (b) were not met.

Smalley urges that the court should require jurors to identify their race and ethnicity. Pet. at 26. Not only does this invite offense and disrespect for the courts, but it misses the point. The concern is not the juror's identity, but whether

exclusion was based on the striking party's *perception* of the juror's identity.

We emphasize that GR 37 has to do with appearances, not with whether a juror actually identifies with a racial or ethnic minority group. In many cases, a trial judge will need to make a record about the apparent racial and ethnic makeup of a jury panel in order to facilitate review on appeal.

State v. Lahman, 17 Wn. App. 2d 925, 935, 488 P.3d 881 (2021). Smalley's proposal to amend the court rule to demand that jurors self-identify is not a matter of substantial public interest.

E. No significant constitutional issue is raised by the court's refusal to allow Smalley to recall a witness to offer cumulative and collateral testimony based on information Smalley independently obtained after she testified but could have obtained earlier.

Smalley claims the court's denial of his request to recall an excused witness raises a significant constitutional issue because he obtained "newly disclosed evidence" after her testimony. Pet. at 28. This misrepresents the record.

Erica Johnson had been the straw purchaser for Smalley's guns and had been prosecuted for it in the federal court. 12RP 1869-71, 1874, 1877-78, 1884. Prior to trial, the State had

provided the defendants with Johnson's redacted statement, which the State had received from the U.S. Attorney's office. RP14 2283. The State did not disclose anything further after Johnson testified. *Id*.

Johnson had been informed that she would be "greenlighted" if she testified. 12RP 1925-26. But she dispelled any notion that the defendants were behind the threat, explaining the defense had been eager for her to testify and that the only pressure had come from the prosecution. 12RP 1936-38.

The prosecutor asked Johnson if she remembered telling federal authorities that Smalley had been "bragging" about the shooting. 12RP 1896-97. Johnson claimed she had misspoken and that Smalley had only been "amped up." *Id*.

Smalley cross-examined Johnson twice. 12RP 1765, 1906-16, 1935-37. When he asked for a third opportunity based on the questions of his co-defendants, the request was denied. 12RP 1939-40.

The next day, Smalley contacted the U.S. Attorney. 14RP 2283. "And what it looks like is that Ms. Johnson said that he seemed like he was kind of bragging, and that's different from what she said on the stand." *Id.* In other words, he wanted to recall her so that she could clarify that she misspoke when she told federal authorities that Smalley was only "kind of" bragging. 14RP 2284 ("the specific thing that the State said, 'you said he was bragging,' well, she actually said kind of bragging."). It is a small distinction on a collateral matter in which the witness had already explained that Smalley had not been bragging at all.

Smalley misrepresents that this minor detail was "newly disclosed evidence." Pet. at 28. In fact, it is information which he obtained *independent* of the prosecutor in a phone call with the U.S. Attorney. Nothing prevented him from making that phone call before trial.

Smalley's challenge to the trial court's discretion under ER 403 does not raise a significant constitutional question.

# F. Where the court of appeals found *no* prosecutorial error, Smalley's claim of *cumulative* error does not raise a consideration under RAP 13.4(b).

Smalley argues that cumulative prosecutorial error permits review. Pet. at 32. In fact, the court of appeals found no error. Unpub. Op. at 43. Smalley does not identify any conflict with a Washington case. He only disagrees with the court of appeals' decision. That disagreement alone does not raise a significant constitutional question or involve a matter of substantial public interest. There is no basis for review.

Smalley devoted the greater part of his opening brief to this claim. Op. Br. of Ap. at 51-75. The prosecutor's response was even longer. Br. of Resp. at 44-87. It urged the court "to consider the record carefully and each allegation separately, as this brief attempts to do," because "[e]ach allegation of prosecutorial error is either refuted in the factual record or in controlling law." Br. of Resp. at 86-87.

Smalley's claim of pervasive and egregious prosecutor error was belied by the absence of objections<sup>2</sup> from the three defendants and the failure of Avington's appellate counsel to identify any prosecutor error in the identical record. *State v. Avington*, 23 Wn. App. 2d 847, 849, 517 P.3d 527 (2022), *review granted in part*, 200 Wn.2d 1026, 523 P.3d 1177 (2023). The claim has also been rejected by two courts.

In a motion for mistrial, Smalley accused the prosecutor of being dismissive and demeaning, of opining on the

of being dismissive and demeaning, of opining on the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Smalley misrepresents that his failure to object at various times throughout the trial is justified because, toward the very end of trial, the court instructed him to sit down. Pet. at 31-32; 16RP 2450 ("Overruled. Please be seated.") Smalley claims on appeal that, as a result of this instruction, his attorney expected the judge would hold him in contempt and send him to jail if he made any further objections. Pet. at 32. This is not the record. There was no threat of contempt. Counsel never claimed that he was afraid he would be held in contempt. And counsel continued to object both during the State's examination of the remaining witness and during closing argument and even repeated his objections in writing. CP 224-26; 17RP 2572, 2573, 2576, 2645; 18RP 2882, 2883. Despite this apparent willingness to object, for the most part, none of the three defense attorneys preserved objection to claims of prosecutorial error.

Defendant's credibility and guilt, of exploiting the office's prestige, of inflaming the jury's passions, and of employing "legal sleight of hand" to produce "a guttural response" from the jury. CP 223-26. The trial judge was not impressed with the Smalley's slurs, stating: "I am not finding any misconduct by the prosecutor during this cross-examination, none whatsoever." 17RP 2532-35. Smalley did not assign error to this finding. Unpub. Op. at 41.

Smalley asked the court of appeals to import into the prosecutor's innocuous words a sarcastic or mocking tone or to interpret them in the most offensive way possible. *See* Op. Br. of Ap. at 69-74. The court of appeals was not impressed. "Smalley's recharacterization of the facts does not establish that the prosecutors acted improperly." Unpub. Op. at 42.

Smalley does not show that his disagreement with the court of appeals' decision meets a RAP 13.4(b) consideration.

///

///

## V. CONCLUSION

The State requests this Court stay consideration of the first lesser included offense claim until resolution of *State v*. *Avington*, No. 101398-1. The State submits the other issues do not merit consideration under RAP 13.4(b).

This document contains 3,257 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.